FURNISHING FORT
AUGUSTUS ABBEY, INVERNESS-SHIRE

Christina M Anderson

On 15 October 1901 the annalist of Fort Augustus Abbey on Loch Ness recorded: ‘Fr
Abbot left for Dunskey to select the furniture wh. is to come here, as the new proprietor
is pulling down the house & building an entirely new one’.

Although a seemingly straightforward sentence, this statement belies the often
random nature of the acquisition of property by the Benedictine community, and the
quite aristocratic background of its members. This particular entry is the first to mention
one of the Abbey’s largest gifts of furniture. Dunskey House, in Wigtownshire, Scotland,
had become the property of the Benedictines at Fort Augustus in 1884 upon the
ordination of its owner.® Now that Dunskey was being sold by the monks, the new
owners offered them its furniture. Ironically, almost one hundred years later, on 12
March 1999, the furnishings of Fort Augustus Abbey and its Abbey School, including
those originally from Dunskey, were sold through the Glasgow auctioneers McTear’s
following the closure of both institutions.’ Among the lots was a metamorphic dining
table which is generally believed to have come from Dunskey.* (Figures 1—4) The
establishment at Fort Augustus of a Roman Catholic abbey and school in the final
quarter of the nineteenth century had been an important milestone for the Catholic
aristocracy of Great Britain. Its symbolic significance meant that no effort had been
spared to involve the leading Catholic designers and benefactors in its building.
However, while the story of the Fort Augustus furnishings is intimately connected to the
history of Catholicism in Great Britain in the late nineteenth century, it is nevertheless
typical of a general process of acquisition by religious communities and churches
throughout Great Britain involving a mixture of donation, commission, and purchase.

Centrally located in the Great Glen which runs through the Highlands from east to
west, Fort Augustus lies in a strategically important location in the only pass across the
mountains to the south. This setting became especially important in the eighteenth
century when Fort Augustus occupied the centre of a chain of three forts built by the
English army to control the Highlands. Along with Fort Augustus, these military bases
included Fort George, built in 1748—69 to replace the damaged Inverness Castle, and Fort
William, originally a Cromwellian fort reconstructed in 1690 and again after 1746. Fort
Augustus itself was constructed between 1729 and 1742 on the orders of General Wade,
according to a design by Captain John Romer (Figure 5). It was named after George II’s
third son, Prince William Augustus, Duke of Cumberland. Although the Jacobite army,
under Charles Edward Stuart, captured Fort Augustus from the English in March 17486,
it had to be abandoned two months later after their defeat at Culloden.’

By the mid-nineteenth century, the British army no longer had any use for Fort
Augustus so the government decided to sell it, finding a buyer in the 12™ Lord Lovat, who
purchased the buildings in 1867 and used a part of them as a hunting lodge.® Lord Lovat
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was a prominent Scottish Catholic who had dreamed of re-establishing a recognised
Roman Catholic religious community in his homeland.” In fact, he had offered land to
the Scottish Ratishon Abbey in Germany, which had been suppressed by the Bavarian
government in 1862," but this proposal was not taken up.” That Lord Lovat could
cherish such a dream was due, in part, to the Catholic Emancipation Act of 1829 which
opened public life to Catholics who, previous to this, had been subject to a number of
penal laws.™ An optimism and vigour developed within the Catholic Church. This was
due not only to the 1829 Act, but also both to the large Irish Catholic population in Great
Britain, resulting from the Act of Union of 1800 with the Kingdom of Ireland and,
especially after the 1840s famine years, the numerous Irish Catholic immigrants, as well
as the prominence of Catholic building projects including churches, schools and convents.
In the public eye, however, it was the aristocratic converts from Anglicanism who
attracted the most attention.” The most notable of these, perhaps, came out of the
Oxford Movement and included people such as John Henry Newman and Henry Edward
Manning.* In Scotland, and for the purposes of this history, however, the most
significant converts were the Marquis of Bute, who converted in 1868-9,” and David
Hunter Blair, who became one of the monks at Fort Augustus Abbey.

The Marquis of Bute, in fact, one of the leading members of the Scottish aristocracy,
was the first publicly to moot the idea of a Catholic religious community in Scotland, and
even offered the use of some of his own land for the undertaking.™ Described as ‘that
visionary patron, intellectual and connoisseur’ and as ‘the driving force and investor
behind so many initiatives aimed at restoring the Roman Catholic tradition in Scotland’,
the 3 Marquis of Bute proposed the idea of a Scottish monastery to the General Chapter
of the English Benedictine Congregation in 1874." The Marquis, however, did not
maintain his central role as others, including Dom Jerome Vaughan, an English
Benedictine originally from Courtfield, Herefordshire, and the 13* Lord Lovat became
involved as well. When the latter offered a home to the new community at Fort
Augustus, the English Congregation agreed to its foundation in 1875, the Marquis of
Bute contributing £5000 instead of land,” with the monastery itself opening in 1878
(Figure 6).”* As Michael Turnbull, a former Fort Augustus pupil, writes, ‘the vision shared
by Dom Jerome Vaughan, the Marquis of Bute and Lord Lovat to convert a military fort
into a Benedictine Abbey was a magnificent one’.”

Perhaps not surprisingly, the early community was composed mainly of English
monks, many of them aristocrats, and some of the most prominent Catholics in the
country were attracted to the undertaking and supported it in one way or another.*® Lady
Lovat, the former Alice Weld-Blundell of Ince Blundell Hall, for example, saw two of her
brothers enter Fort Augustus monastery, while Dom Jerome Vaughan himself was her
cousin.** Other Catholic families who were represented among the monks at Fort
Augustus include Stourton, Clifford, Steuart, Cary-Elwes and Lane-Fox.** Professional
Catholic designers were also recruited for the project: the architect Joseph A. Hansom
was commissioned to transform the Georgian fort into an independent school and
Gothic-style monastery (Figure 7), while Peter Paul Pugin, the youngest son of A.W.N.
Pugin, designed the cloister and other areas (Figure 8).»> Although both men created
designs for the Abbey church, neither was to realise his full vision, the elder Hansom
having been replaced by the younger, and perhaps more glamorous, Pugin and the project
itself suffering from delays and inconsistent funding.*
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Although the Marquis of Bute gradually withdrew from involvement in the Fort
Augustus project, another ‘convert’ became instrumental to its early success. David
Hunter Blair, who had become a Roman Catholic in 1875 while a student at Oxford,*
entered the monastery as a postulant when it opened in 1878 (Figure 10).* Referred to
by the Fort Augustus Benedictines as ‘our great benefactor’, he proved to be the most
generous supporter of the undertaking, newspapers reporting he had given £20,000 to
the monastery around the time he became a postulant.” He owned the Dunskey estate in
Wigtownshire described above,* and, almost uniquely for a monk, inherited his father’s
baronetcy in 1896.* His generosity was legendary and members of the Fort Augustus
community still speak of the high-quality furniture brought to the Abbey because of his
association with the community.*

The original Dunskey House was built in 1706 and had been the home of the Blair
family (Figure 11). When James Hunter married Jean, the heiress of John Blair of
Dunskey in 1770, he changed his name to James Hunter Blair, becoming the first baronet
of the family in 1786.' Their son, David, built Blairquhan in Ayrshire in the 1820s,
supplanting Dunskey as the family seat which became, instead, the home of the ‘next in
line’. As David Hunter Blair wrote:

Sir James [Hunter Blair] left five sons, Jobn and David, who succeeded him as
second and third baronets, and James, Forbes, and Thomas, who in turn (all
three died childless) became lairds of Dunskey. Forbes about the year 1842
built a large addition to the house, consisting of dining, drawing, and billiard-
rooms with bedrooms above.*

The old front was left intact and the new block built on at the back....My
great-uncle Forbes died in 1833, and was succeeded by his brother Thomas, a
Peninsula and Waterloo veteran, who had been wounded and taken prisoner
at Talavera, and, after five years’ captivity, again wounded at
Waterloo...Thomas was at Dunskey very little, as his wife did not like it... My
father succeeded to the property [Dunskey] on the General’s death in 1849,
[and] signs were not wanting that factors had been too long supreme...
According to the settlement of the family estates made a generation previously,
my father on succeeding to Blairquban had to divest himself of Dunskey and
of a smaller estate in Ayrshire (Brownbhill, near Mauchline), in favour of his
eldest son. I consequently became on my grandfather’s death the baby laird of
Dunskey, of course under the guardianship of my father...My grandfather,
who had previously bought back the property in the Carrick district of
Ayrshire formerly belonging to his maternal ancestors the Kennedys of
Blairquhan, had completed the beautiful castellated mansion which was
henceforth to be the principal seat of bis family.»

Because no decisive records exist for the mid-nineteenth-century building work described
above, it is not clear who ordered the alterations, or when they were carried out. Other
family history states that Thomas had Dunskey refurbished or renovated around 1840,
or shortly before,* and the National Monuments Record for Scotland retains designs for
Dunskey by William Burn dating from between 1824 and 1830, or 1838.” However,
none of these seem to correspond to pictures found of the nineteenth-century house, and
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the Orr-Ewing family, the current owners, whose predecessors had the original house
demolished and rebuilt to plans by James Kennedy Hunter in 1901, believe a new Burn
house was never built. Blairquhan, which was built shortly before Dunskey was revamped,
was furnished coherently throughout in c.1824 by Morison & Co who, at the time, were a
local firm, but shortly afterwards moved to Edinburgh.”” No bills have been found to reveal
the maker of the 1830s or 1840s Dunskey furniture. Nevertheless, when the estate was sold
by the Benedictines to the Orr-Ewings in 1901,* the offer of the contents of the house
generated an enthusiasm greater than in many other parts of the Fort Augustus annals:

6 November 1901.

Last night seven truck-loads of furniture came from Dunskey via Spean. It was
all carted up to the Play Hall & Novices & Brothers are busy under F. Abbot’s
supervision in unpacking & selecting for the Lodge, Ardachy, & the Guest
House which are all to be practically re-furnished by this windfall. About 4000
books have also come; many of them valueless, but some good ones.

7 November 1901.

The furniture occupied a good many of the Comf. again. A good deal is now
disposed of. The surplus is stacked in the old billiard room of the College. The
large billiard table from Dunskey is to be set up in the Hospice smoking room
for the benefit of the guests, chiefly. On acct of hard work fasting dispensed
tomorrow.

8 November 1901.
Furniture pretty well settled now. An hour’s longer sleep, no Chapter.”

Usually, an inventory is made of an estate when a will goes through probate court in
Scotland. However, possibly because Dunskey was entailed, when Thomas Hunter Blair
died the settlement of the estate does not seem to have followed the normal procedure
because no inventory was made.* Unfortunately, there is no other inventory or known
record describing the furniture which was brought to Fort Augustus from Dunskey,
making identification difficult. ** An image from Fort Augustus, however, may show the
billiard table referred to above (Figure 12).

Other furnishings for the monastery came from various sources: donations, purchases,
as part of the properties the Benedictines bought or inherited, and, sometimes, as the
worldly goods of the monks themselves. Among these are pieces which suggest the hand
of P. P. Pugin.”* Unfortunately, no furniture designs by Pugin for Fort Augustus appear
to exist, aside from an informal drawing of stalls for the chapter house (Figure 13).#
Nevertheless, the ‘Pugin style’ seems apparent in images of the Abbey interior (Figures 14
—16). In addition to this furniture, according to a monk who was living at Fort Augustus
before it was closed and did some research into the furnishings, several large tables and
simple, identical wooden chairs were made on site when the monastery first opened.*
Considering the close association of the Lovats with the monastery, surprisingly little
furniture appears to have come from the Lovat estate. Only a pair of chairs from
Costessey Hall, Norfolk, originally belonging to the 13" Lord Lovat’s mother’s family
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and given by the then Lord and Lady Lovat to the monks in June 1912, and a vesting
table of Spanish oak for the Sacristy, ** are recorded as gifts to the Benedictines.

The annals of Fort Augustus do reveal, however, that furniture came to the Abbey from
at least three other properties: Ardachie, a local estate with historical family connections to
the Lovats;”” Fas-na-Coile, another local property which was acquired by the Abbey in
1952;* and Craigston Castle, near Turriff in Aberdeenshire. Among the furniture from
Ardachie and Fas-na-Coile nothing appears to have been of outstanding merit. Ardachy is
described in a document of 1906 as ‘comfortably furnished’,” with a 1907 bill from a local
cabinet-maker, Robert Cameron, listing various repairs to the furniture there.” There is a
more detailed list of, again, quite ordinary furniture from Fas-na-Coile.** More interesting,
though, is Dom Jerome Pollard-Urquhart’s inheritance of Craigston Castle in 1915-16.
Unlike Dunskey, Craigston did not become the absolute property of the Abbey.’* However,
some items did make their way there,’* and the Abbey chronicles mention the following:

9 August 1916.

For Recreation the community met in the former calefactory where the big
organ was so long stored.*

The large handsome room had been entirely renovated & fitted up with some
of the handsome furniture from Craigston Castle.s

A later entry could refer either to this furniture or some other specimens from Craigston:

6 May 1918.
The Craigston effects have brought in a considerable asset to our revenues.
There were 8 Chippendale chairs, 4 chairs with woollen needlework seats, 4
painted chairs, 1 settee with silk needlework seat & 1 bureau. This lot sold
for £200.5¢

The plate fetched £340. The remaining furniture at Craigston Castle fetched
£500. And now to-day we have word that 3 out of the 4 Stuart portraits have
been bought by the National Gallery of Edinburgh for £1500. The 4”’
portrait, that of the Chevalier St. George they would not buy, as they had
already many years ago acquired an exactly similar one for £21, of which they
think ours is a copy, as theirs is a much better picture.s

It is also worth mentioning that several large gifts and legacies were given to the Abbey
by other benefactors, although there is no evidence that any furniture was given. These
donors include Sir James Calder, who paid for the building of an additional wing for the
school,*® a young Mr. Harrison,” and a Miss Urquhart. ® Although a donation and
benefaction book for Fort Augustus does exist, it lists principally small gifts such as
foodstuffs.® Finally, mention should also be made of one entry in the Fort Augustus
chronicles of furniture purchased by the Abbey: ‘17 September 1883: Workmen washing
staircase and papering library in the Hospice for which new furniture is ordered.” No
further information is available about these pieces.

Although the words ‘church furniture’ usually evoke images of pulpits, pews, altars
and other ecclesiastical items, domestic pieces also find their way into churches and, in a
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large institution like a monastery, are indispensable. The story of Fort Augustus’s
furnishings, including commissions, donations, and purchases, may not be so dissimilar
from that of other religious communities. However, what is unique and, arguably,
important about this account is the fact that it is also a physical manifestation of a
development in society — the growth in Roman Catholic institutions during the nineteenth
century, and the way in which this specifically attracted the attention of the Catholic
aristocracy. Fort Augustus has now been sold, and its contents dispersed. For many
pieces, this means returning to a domestic use. For others, it signifies an addition to the
collection of someone with fond memories of their time at the Abbey school. In this way,
the ‘church furniture’ discussed here is fundamentally like any other furniture, only with
a remarkable line to its provenance.
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Clockwise from top left

1. Nineteenth century dining table, probably
made for Dunskey House, Wigtownshire
Mallet & Son (Antiques) Ltd

2. Dining table leaves in case
Mallet & Son (Antiques) Ltd

3. Nineteenth century dining table, extended
Mallet & Son (Antiques) Ltd

4. Nineteenth century dining table with outer leaves attached
Mallet & Son (Antigues) Ltd
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5. Plan of the Georgian Fort Augustus
Scottish Catholic Archives
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6. Fort Augustus Abbey on the shore of Loch Ness
Scottish Catholic Archives
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7. Joseph A. Hansom’s plan and design for the Benedictine Monastery at Fort Augustus
Scottish Catholic Archives
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8. Peter Paul Pugin’s design for the Abbey Church at Fort Augustus
Scottish Catholic Archives
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9. Reginald Fairlie’s design for the Abbey Church at Fort Augustus
Scottish Catholic Archives
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10. Sir David Oswald Hunter Blair
The late James Hunter Blair
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11. Detail of Sir James Hunter Blair and Family by David Allan, c.1783
with Dunskey House in the background
The late James Hunter Blair
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12. Billiard table at Fort Augustus Abbey
Scottish Catholic Archives
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13. Drawing by Peter Paul Pugin of stalls for Fort Augustus Abbey Chapter House
Scottish Catholic Archives
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14. The Refectory at Fort Augustus Abbey
Scottish Catholic Archives

15. The Calefactory at Fort Augustus Abbey furnished entirely with ‘Glastonbury’ chairs
Scottish Catholic Archives
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16. The Study at Fort Augustus Abbey
Scottish Catholic Archives



